IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-02291-COA

BERNITA J. WASHINGTON, APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE

VERSUS

WOODLAND VILLAGE NURSING HOME d/b/a H. T. CAIN And BRIDGFIELD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, APPELLEES/CROSS APPELLANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 2007-0037

BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE BERNITA J. WASHINGTON (Oral Argument Requested)

ł

JAMES K. WETZEL, ESQUIRE (MS Bar No. JAMES K. WETZEL & ASSOCIATES 1701 24th Avenue Post Office Box I Gulfport, MS 39502 (228) 864-6400 (ofc); (228) 863-1793 (fax)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-02291-COA

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DECIDING LEGAL ISSUES THAT WERE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE ITS ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOR DECISION.
- II. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT WAS NOT IN NEED OF FURTHER CERVICAL SURGERY.
- III. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT'S CONTEMPLATED LUMBAR SURGERY "SHOULD BE SCRUTINIZED BY THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER, AND AT PRESENT, ANY LUMBAR SURGERY IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER HEREIN."
- IV. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN UPHOLDING THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S DECISION AND DETERMINING THAT CLAIMANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO PERMANENT DISABILITY BENEFITS DUE TO THE FACT THAT SHE DID NOT MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO FIND ALTERNATIVE EMPLOYMENT.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal by Bernita J. Washington, who filed a workers' compensation claim against her employer, Woodland Village Nursing Center d/b/a H. T. Cain and its carrier, Bridgefield Casualty Insurance Company. For convenience hereinafter in this brief, the appellant/cross-appellee, Bernita J. Washington, will be referred to as Ms. Washington, and the appellees/cross-appellants, will be referred to as Employer/Carrier.

ĺ

i.

i

i

i.

1

Ms. Washington is appealing the decision of the Circuit Court and the Workers' Compensation Commission dated December 13, 2007, and January 8, 2007, respectively. (R.E. 10 and 9). The Full Commission order affirmed the decision of the administrative law judge dated January 6, 2006. (R.E.8).

Ms. Washington contends that errors of law and fact were made by the Workers' Compensation Commission which was affirmed by the Circuit Court.

Ms. Washington would submit to this Honorable Court that there were numerous findings of fact made by the administrative law judge and the Full Commission which were erroneous. The administrative law judge and the Commission adjudicated certain issues which were not properly before the Commission. Ms. Washington would submit to this Honorable Court that after a *de novo* review of the evidence in this case as well as the applicable law, this Honorable Court will come to a firm conclusion that the administrative law judge and Commission did not have substantial evidence upon which to base its decision, as it relates to medical benefits that the claimant was entitled to. The Workers' Compensation Commission erred as matter of law in deciding issues that were reserved for a secondary hearing. (i.e., entitlement to permanent partial/permanent total indemnity benefits).

2

Ms. Washington will hereinafter show unto this Honorable Court how she was denied a fair hearing before the administrative law judge and that the decision of the Full Commission affirming its administrative law judge should be reversed and remanded back to the Commission requiring it to provide medical and indemnity benefits to the claimant in accordance with the facts and law of the case.

ſ

i

i.

Ţ

r

i.

í

Ĺ

FACTS OF CASE

When this matter came on for hearing before the administrative law judge on July 20, 2005, at approximately 1:45 p.m., at the Harrison County Courthouse located in Gulfport, Mississippi, the administrative law explained the following as she appreciated the issues. By Administrative Judge Mounger:

.

ŧ.

i.

i

All right, the cause number here is H-5941. What I understand the issues are – are we going back to causation, whether or not a work related injury occurred on or about the date alleged in the petition to controvert, and if so, the existence, nature and extent of disability attributable thereto, inclusive of the fact that additional surgery has been recommended, and whether or not the employer and carrier should be responsible for that surgery. <u>And/or any result of disability will be have to be subject of another hearing if such is found to compensable</u>. Is there anything that I have missed, Mr. Wetzel and Mr. Steinberger? (Tr. 4-5).

It was very clear to all parties concerned that any disability (indemnity) benefits would have to be the subject of another hearing if the claim was found to be compensable. The thrust of the Employer/Carrier's argument was that Ms. Washington forfeited her rights to benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act by having committed workers' compensation insurance fraud. At no time did Ms. Washington and the Employer/Carrier in this matter ever bring to the administrative law judge for a decision the question of permanent partial and/or permanent total disability benefits to which she may be entitled once she had reached maximum medical improvement. The primary issue was whether or not the on-the-job injury occurred on the date alleged in the petition to controvert and whether or not additional surgery which had been recommended, should be the responsibility of the Employer/Carrier. (Tr.4). The basic position of the Employer/Carrier was that even though they had paid for Ms. Washington's cervical surgery and treatment to the back arising from this on-the-job injury, they were now taking the position that since she had committed insurance fraud during the course of her claim they should not have to pay further medical or indemnity benefits. Employer/Carrier took the position and argued that the Mississippi Supreme Court when confronted with this issue <u>may</u> create a public policy exception to the workers' compensation laws and hold that all workers' compensation benefits are forfeited after conviction of workers' compensation insurance fraud. (Tr 5).

ļ

ı.

i

í

i

İ.

Ļ

i

The parties entered into a stipulation that the average weekly wage of Ms. Watkins was \$360.14. (Tr.4). Then general exhibits 1 through 17 were entered by both parties. Ms. Washington then introduced Exhibit 18, the medical records affidavit of Dr. Charles Kergosien, and Exhibit 19 which was the deposition of Dr. Eric Wolfson, neurosurgeon. Exhibit 20 was the medical records of Dr. Jeffrey Oppenheimer, neurosurgeon, who had performed an independent medical evaluation at Ms. Washington's request due to her ongoing spinal problems. The Employer/Carrier offered Exhibits 21 and 22. Then the testimony was accepted from Ms. Washington. (Tr.11-17). The only testimony presented by the Employer/Carrier in this case was the introduction of one witness, Starann Lamier, who was the administrator at Woodland Village Nursing Center at the time Ms. Washington was injured.

Ms. Washington testified at the time of the hearing that she was 45 years old, married 25-1/2 years and had three children. She testified that her educational background included high school with two years of college. (Tr.18). At the time of this industrial accident, on December 14, 2001, she was employed at Woodland Village Nursing in Diamondhead, Mississippi and had previously gone to work there in November 2000. She was there until March 2001, when she left the job at Woodland. She returned to Woodland the summer of 2001 and had worked approximately five to six months as a certified nursing assistant working the night shift when this incident occurred at work. Ms. Washington testified that she used to work six nights a week and off on Friday's. (Tr.19). She testified that from the time she returned to work at Woodlands up until the date of her accident on December 14, 2001, she had not been in any way disciplined and had always been given good performance evaluations. (Tr.22). Ms. Washington testified that prior to going back to work in the summer of 2001, she did miss some work at Woodlands which was approximately March 2000 when she was in a car accident and sought treatment. (Tr.22).

1

[

1

1

1

Ms. Washington testified that when she went back to work the last time with Woodland, she had to have a doctor's release before they would hire her back on. She testified that she gave the letter to Woodland from Dr. Alan Johnson and immediately she went back to work in approximately November 2000. She testified that she did not have any treatment for any prior injuries between November 2000 and the date of her accident on December 14, 2001. However, she did go back to see a doctor about the vehicular collision right when they were settling her claim while she was working for Woodland. She testified that she had a New Orleans lawyer located on Canal Street who handled and settled her claim. (Tr. 19-23).

She testified that on December 14, 2001, she was working and it was approximately 5:00 a.m. in the morning, which is the time to wake the residents. She testified that her hall, the 400 hall, had approximately six residents that she had to assist getting out of bed. She testified she had just finished assisting a resident named Ms. Salyeah whom she had to physically get out of the bed and then put her into a wheel chair. Ms. Washington testified that she was pushing her to the dining hall which is not that far, and at that time, there was a nurse named, Nurse Brown

in a Mr. Hatley's room. She testified Nurse Brown alerted Ms. Washington that the resident she was assisting, Mr. Hatley, was getting dizzy. Ms. Washington quickly went to get the wheel chair that was about six rooms from the hall. (Tr.23-24). On the way back, all she can remember is that she woke up and that she was on the floor and her feet were facing the opposite way from the way she was going. (Tr.23-24). A nurse by the name of Ms. Saucier told her that she had been looking for a wet floor sign. Ms. Washington testified that was all she could recall when she woke up and saw Ms. Saucier looking over her face. (Tr.24). She testified when she woke up on the floor, she had struck her head apparently on a cleaning cart when she fell. She testified that she still had the wheelchair arm on the left side of body and was still holding on to it even though she was on the floor. She testified that her thumb was swollen and that she had severe pain in her arm and chest and laid on the floor, eventually getting up. Ms. Washington testified that different co-workers helped her get up and sit in a little lounge that they had for workers to eat in. (Tr.24-25). The next thing she knew Ms. Niles, her supervisor, told her to go to the hospital and she did go to the emergency room at Hancock County Medical Center. (Tr.25). She testified that when she went to the hospital she was complaining of head pain, neck pain, left arm pain, back and knee pain. After having been discharged at the hospital, she came under the care of Dr. Charles Kergosien, an internist, who was also the company doctor. Dr. Kergosien took Ms. Washington off work. On January 7, 2002, Dr. Kergosien released her to return to work where she returned for some period of time. Ms. Washington testified that she was unable to do the work so Dr. Kergosien took her off work and prescribed physical therapy at Ouest Rehab. On March 18, 2002, when she went back to Dr. Kergosien, she was again released to return to work. Ms. Washington testified that when she attempted to return again to Dr. Kergosien he was ill and his office referred her to Dr. David Roberts on March 28, 2002.

ſ

;

ļ

(Tr.25). Dr. Roberts ordered an MRI of the neck and the test was carried out at Hancock Medical Center on April 3, 2002. On April 20, 2002, Dr. Roberts referred her to Dr. Terry Smith, a neurosurgeon. (Tr.26). On May 29, 2002, Dr. Smith opined and testified that she had spinal stenosis as well as a disc protrusion in her neck. (R.E.13). On May 29, 2002, he wrote a note: "To whom it may concern: light duty." Ms. Washington testified she could not perform these duties. Dr. Smith recommended some epidural blocks which were later performed by Dr. Jeffrey Oppenheimer and Dr. Brian Dix. Ms. Washington returned to Dr. Smith saying it did not help her and a return to work on August 24, 2002, with restrictions, was entered, but Woodland said "no" since surgery was contemplated for her. (R.E.13). On December 5, 2002, an anterior cervical corpectomy and fusion at C4-C5 was performed followed by a regime of physical therapy. Dr. Smith, in his medical records, (R.E.13), sent a note to Dr. David Roberts, wherein he advised Dr. Roberts that she was six weeks out from anterior cervical corpectomy and fusion making good progress, that she still has a weak voice, although she has good and bad days with it. He advised Dr. Roberts that she still has soreness in the back of her neck and medial left shoulder and felt that her continued symptoms were muscular and therapy he thought was going to go a long way toward helping these out. Dr. Smith ordered a functional capacity evaluation by a physical therapist, Matt Capo. On April 15, 2003, Dr. Smith indicated a return to work with restrictions. On April 26, 2003, Dr. Smith stated that Ms. Washington had been back to work and she stated that her supervisor told her to return back because when she returned to work she developed pain in the back of her neck which "hits her head" and she says she is getting blurry vision. (R.E.13). Ms. Washington testified he gave her a muscle relaxer and would see her back as needed.

÷

[. .

On July 19, 2003, Dr. Smith also prepared another medical record following his evaluation on that date advising that in April 2003, he had released her to return to work but she was still having pain in the anterior aspect of her neck and also pain in her lower back with associated tingling in the legs. On examination, she had mild tenderness to palpation over the muscles of her neck and lower back. He wrote a prescription for physical therapy and also stated that she has a disc protrusion at L5/S1 in her lower back. He advised her at that time about the possible treatments, namely living with it, trying therapy, having steroidal injections or having surgery and she wished to proceed with the epidural injection to the back which she had not had before. He advised he would have that performed and then have physical therapy do additional work on her neck. Dr. Smith's records indicate that she returned on October 11, 2003, and that she was still having pan in the right upper trapezius muscle at the base of her cervical spine, that she has disc protrusions at L5/S1 and she will have an epidural injection in her back in the next few weeks. She has had no improvement following the physical therapy of the cervical spine. Dr. Smith requested that Quest Rehab provide her with home tens unit for pain control and advised she was only capable of light duty. On December 4, 2003, according to the records of Dr. Terry Smith, a lumbar steroidal injection was performed in the lower back and she returned on December 12, 2003, for an evaluation by Dr. Smith and advised that the steroidal injection that was performed did not help. She stated to Dr. Smith that her pain got worse and that she went to the Hancock Medical Center emergency room because she was having severe pain in her buttocks that was going down her left leg. He mentioned on December 12, 2003, that she was ready to proceed with surgery for the disc protrusion to the left in her lumbar spine and explained the risks, benefits and alternatives and requested she sign a consent to proceed form with surgery so he could get workers' comp approval. (R.E.13).

ì

On December 14, 2003, Dr. Smith admitted her to Gulf Coast Medical Center for the lumbar disc abnormality with left radiculopathy and his planned procedure was a lumbar microdiscectomy and foraminotomy. Dr. Smith's records indicated that on January 24, 2004, that Bernita Washington came back in for evaluation and that he was still awaiting worker's comp approval for the back surgery. During this visit, she advised Dr. Smith that she went to the emergency room for neck pain and the hospital referred her to Dr. Crowder who ordered an MRI scan under her health insurance for her neck. She advised Dr. Smith during this visit that she hurts in her mid low back and that she has an odd sensation in the left anterior thigh. Dr. Smith advised that he reviewed the MRI scan that Dr. Crowder obtained and that he did not totally agree with the radiologist's reading of the cervical MRI and did not feel that any additional cervical surgery would be of help and was still awaiting authorization for surgery on the low back. He gave her a release to return back to work at regular duty but no pushing a water cart for two weeks because this caused her pain to be enhanced. (R.E.13).

After the last visit of January 24, 2004, the Employer/Carrier would not authorize the lumbar surgery nor would they authorize further cervical treatment. On July 10, 2004, Dr. Terry Smith in answering certain questions propounded to him by the attorney for the Employer/Carrier, stated the following:

July 10, 2004

ł

1

i

i

i

Mr. Karl R. Steinberger Post Office Box 1407 Pascagoula, Mississippi 39568-1407

RE: Bernita Washington

Dear Mr. Steinberger:

This will answer questions posed in your June 4, 2004, letter to me.

Ms. Bernita Washington's diagnoses are cervical and lumbar disk abnormalities. her prognosis for further recovery is poor, though she has made a good deal of recovery. If she does not undergo surgery, her maximum medical improvement date is today. If she does not undergo surgery, based on the $\frac{4^{th}}{Edition}$ AMA Guides. I agree with Dr. Moses that her impairment rating is 5%. She should not significantly change should she have surgery. I do not agree with Dr. Jones that she is not a surgical candidate; if I thought otherwise, I would not have ethically signed her up for surgery. Should she have surgery she would be temporarily and totally disabled for approximately six weeks, then could return to her previous job. Dr. Moses returned Ms. Washington to her regular duties with no restrictions.

Sincerely yours,

Terry C. Smith, M.D. Neurological Surgery

TCS:njp

ī

ſ

í

ł

,

į

ŕ

1.

(MWCC Exh. G#1, pg 1) (R.E.13).

Prior to the July 10, 2004, narrative of Dr. Terry Smith, the Employer/Carrier requested Ms. Washington undergo an employer's medical evaluation at the Jackson Neurosurgery and Spine Clinic in Jackson, Mississippi and was directed to Dr. Moses Jones for this evaluation. He took a clinical history from Ms. Washington and conducted a physical examination. Dr. Jones indicated his impression on this date was as follows: "I have reviewed the patient's MRI study from 5/7/2002, pre-operatively as well as from 1/20/2004, in the cervical region and 2/2/2004, in the lumbar region. Clearly her cervical spine shows degenerative changes and post-operative changes from her previous anterior cervical fusion. However, at this point I do not see any acute changes such as herniated disk or evidence of nerve root compression. There is some canal narrowing, but certainly not to the degree that she has neural impingement and certainly nothing

that would correlate with her symptomalogy. At this point I see no objective evidence to suggest that surgical intervention would be of value. From a strictly objective and neurosurgical viewpoint, I see no reason the patient should not be able to resume all normal activities. I do not see a significant abnormality in her lumbar spine. In her cervical spine, she has had a good surgical procedure with the normally expected results. On the basis of all of the above, I feel that she can resume all normal activities and should have a 5% permanent partial impairment to the body as whole on the basis of her cervical spine operation. She can return to work with restrictions." (R.E.14).

.

÷

[

i

i.

ί.

ι.

When the Employer/Carrier would not authorize further treatment by Dr. Terry Smith, she was evaluated by Dr. Jeffrey Oppenheimer, neurosurgeon, on June 24, 2004. After a full physical examination and history taken from her on that date, Dr. Oppenheimer recommended a CT myelogram of the lumbosacral spine and nerve conduction studies of the upper and lower extremities. His impression was that she was suffering from lumbar and cervical radiculopathy, worse on the left. (R.E.15).

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