IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-02291-COA

BERNITA J. WASHINGTON

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VERSUS

WOODLAND VILLAGE NURSING HOME d/b/a H.T. CAIN

AND

BRIDGEFIELD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hancock County, Mississippi Civil Action No. 2007-0037

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT WOODLAND VILLAGE NURSING HOME d/b/a H.T. CAIN and BRIDGEFIELD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

Oral Argument Requested

Karl R. Steinberger, MSB # Stacie E. Zorn, MSB# Williams, Heidelberg, Steinberger & McElhaney, P.A.
Post Office Box 1407
Pascagoula, MS 39568

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-02291-COA

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

Additionally, the testimony, as well as the exhibits, clearly show that Claimant's present symptoms of neck and back pain arose from a March 2000, motor vehicle accident, not an alleged December 14, 2001 work injury. From March 2000 to May 2001, Claimant was treated for neck and back pain as a result of the motor vehicle accident. On June 28, 2000, after

undergoing an MRI on June 14, 2000, Claimant was diagnosed as suffering from cervical disc protrusions with cord compression and nerve root impingement and lumbar disc protrusions with nerve root impingement. (Ex. #11 at pp. 13, 16). The actual films of the June 14, 2000, MRI were not in the packet picked up by the Claimant at the Hancock Medical Center to deliver to Dr. Wolfson for use in his IME. (Ex. #22). During an examination with Dr. Johnston on May 23, 2001, Claimant was complaining of cervical pain which she rated as 7/10. (Ex. #11 at p.15). Claimant has presented no witnesses to corroborate her testimony about an alleged work injury. (Ex. #9 at p. 1). Consequently, it is difficult to find the Claimant's testimony either credible or trustworthy. As noted by the Mississippi Supreme Court, "[a] back injury is not ordinarily a condition in which a patient is taciturn. There is an inclination to sing it praises." Hudson v. Keystone Seneca Wire Cloth Co., 482 So.2d 226, 228 (Miss. 1986).

Where evidence is contradicted, inherently improbable, incredible, unreasonable, or untrustworthy, the claim may be denied. Morris v. Lansdell's Frame Co., 547 So.2d 782, 785 (Miss. 1989). See also, Shoffer v. Vestal and Vernon Agency, 217 So.2d 627, 692-30 (Miss. 1969) (sufficient facts were present to reject claim - no corroboration of claimant's testimony and application for benefits under group policy); Fowler v. Durant Sportswear, Inc., 203 So.2d 577, 578 (Miss. 1967) (testimony of claimant found untrustworthy when uncorroborated). The Claimant's testimony, when considered with the remaining facts disclosed in this case, does not meet the burden placed upon her to establish that she suffered an on-the-job injury on December 14, 2001. The Commission found, "Claimant's claim is doubtful, at best, but we are duty bound to resolve this doubt in her favor." (R., at p. 109). Based upon the foregoing the Commission committed an error of law when it found it was "duty bound" to accept this doubtful claim. As such, the Order of the Commission should be reversed and this claim should be dismissed.

II. THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI REQUIRES THE FORFEITURE OF CLAIMANT'S RIGHT TO BENEFITS UNDER THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT AS A CONSEQUENCE OF HER COMMISSION OF THE CRIME OF INSURANCE FRAUD UPON THE EMPLOYER IN ORDER TO OBTAIN WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS.

Claimant altered several medical reports of her treating physician, Dr. Terry Smith, in order to induce the Employer to believe she was temporarily disabled so that she could remain on light duty work and continue to receive temporary disability benefits. Claimant plead guilty to the crime of Insurance Fraud in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District. (Ex. #7 at pp. 1-3). As a consequence of her crime, Claimant has been ordered to pay restitution to the Workman's Compensation Carrier in addition to paying certain fines and penalties. Id. Although Claimant has waived any claim to indemnity benefits she was paid during the period of time she committed insurance fraud upon the Employer and Carrier, she is currently seeking permanent disability benefits relative to that time period and temporary and permanent benefits relative to future contemplated neck and back surgery.

In 1998, the Mississippi Legislature created the Insurance Integrity Enforcement Bureau within the Office of the Attorney General. Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-301, et seq. Section 7-5-303 of the Code prohibits any person from knowingly defrauding any insurance plan in connection with the delivery of insurance benefits. Section 7-5-309 of the Code provides that any individual who knowingly violates § 7-5-303, shall be guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment, fines and costs. By enacting these sections of the Mississippi Code, the Mississippi Legislature has given clear indication of Mississippi's public policy against insurance fraud.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of law by not finding that Claimant forfeited her right to workers' Compensation benefits, including medical and indemnity benefits, by having committed and been convicted of workers' compensation insurance fraud.

Section 71-3-69 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides:

Any person who willfully makes any false or misleading statement or representation for the purpose of obtaining or wrongfully withholding any benefit or payment under this chapter is guilty of a felony and on conviction thereof may be punished by a fine of not to exceed Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) or double the value of the fraud, whichever is greater, or by imprisonment not to exceed three (3) years, or by both fine and imprisonment.

Although the statute does not specifically state that a Claimant forfeits his or her benefits by using false or misleading information to obtain benefits, the strong public policy of the State of Mississippi should allow for such forfeiture. At the very minimum, the Court should find that the Claimant forfeits her right to permanent disability benefits which may emanate as a result of her fraud.

This Court has the power to carve out a public policy exception that allows the termination of benefits when a Claimant commits workers' compensation insurance fraud. For instance, in McArn v. Allied Bruce-Terminix Co., Inc., 626 So.2d 603, 607 (Miss. 1993), i.e., the whistle blower case, the Mississippi Supreme Court carved out a narrow public policy exception to the longstanding, common law, employment-at-will doctrine when the employee refuses to participate in an illegal act or is discharged for reporting illegal acts of his employer. The Mississippi Supreme Court arrived at this public policy exception by analyzing prior cases in which employees were terminated under certain bad faith circumstances and in which the Court held the employees had no recourse for their termination. The Employer and Carrier are aware of the statutory nature of the current workers' compensation statute and of the issues involving separation of powers of the judiciary and the legislature and fully anticipate the Claimant will

counter with that argument. But, in McArn, the Court went so far as to hold that the public policy exceptions apply even when there is "privately made law governing the employment relationship." Id.

In addition, in <u>Long v. McKinney</u>, 897 So.2d 160 (Miss. 2004), the Mississippi Supreme Court evaluated the Mississippi Wrongful Death Statute and promulgated procedure to be followed in wrongful death litigation, despite the lack of provisions in the statute, stating it was their "constitutional responsibility" to scrutinize the Statute for matters which are judicial and to establish the procedure to be followed in wrongful death litigation. <u>Long</u>, 897 So.2d at 163. The Court went so far as to hold that where provisions of the <u>Long</u> decision conflict with the Wrongful Death Statute, the <u>Long</u> provisions shall control. Id., at p. 164.

Likewise, in the present action, this Court should consider the position of the Employer and Carrier and the citizens of the State of Mississippi. The Claimant has pled guilty to and been convicted of the crime of Insurance Fraud. From the outset of this case, Claimant has either committed acts, or suspicious circumstances have arisen which cast serious doubt upon Claimant's credibility and the validity of this claim. To say that Claimant's credibility has been tainted is an understatement. Nevertheless, under the present statutory scheme, the Employer and Carrier must still provide benefits to the Claimant for alleged injuries she suffered as the result of an alleged, uncorroborated work injury.

Additionally, the present statute does not provide for the repayment of benefits which were received as a result of the fraud.⁵ "It is axiomatic that the entire purpose of the creation of

It is uncontested that Claimant has been ordered by the Harrison County Circuit Court to repay Employer and Carrier for the benefits received as a result of her fraud.

Rosamond v. Pennaco Hosiery, Inc., 942 F.Supp. 279, 286 (N.D.Miss. 1996). "If we are to have a law, those who so act against the public interest must be held accountable for the harm inflicted thereby; to accord them civil immunity would incongruously reward their lawlessness at the unjust expense of their innocent victims." Id. If Claimant is entitled to receive further worker's compensation benefits, despite her fraudulent acts, not only will Claimant's unlawfulness will be rewarded by the Court, but the Court will also send the message to the citizens of our State that despite committing a fraud upon one's employer, benefits will still be paid without scrutiny.

The Employer and Carrier concede that most states which do provide for the forfeiture of benefits do so by statute. However, it is believed that, if confronted with the situation, the Mississippi Supreme Court would carve out the urged public policy exception. Therefore, the Court is urged to at least take a stand on this issue in order to allow the Mississippi Supreme Court an opportunity to make much needed law on appeal.

To aid the Court in its determination on this issue, a review of several state's scheme is relevant. For instance, pursuant to La.R.S. 23:1208, Louisiana employs the following standard to determine whether a Claimant has forfeited his or her benefits: (1) there is a false statement or misrepresentation, (2) willfully made, and (3) it is made for the purpose of obtaining or defeating any benefit or payment. Darby v. Gilbert Richard, Inc., 838 So.2d 141, 149 (La.App. 3 Cir. 2003). However, false statements that are inadvertent or inconsequential do not result in forfeiture. Id. In Darby, the Claimant had so highly inflated his estimated weekly wages, the Court found that reason alone warranted a forfeiture of all compensation benefits under La.R.S. 23:1208.

In Sjostrand v. N.D. Worker's Comp. Bureau, 649 N.W.2d 537 (N.D. 2002), under a statute that provides for reimbursement of benefits paid and forfeiture of additional benefits for making a false statement in an attempt to secure payment, the claimant's benefits were terminated after he was videotaped engaging in activities inconsistent with the representation of his physical condition given to his treating physicians.

On the other hand, California does not terminate all benefits when the claimant commits a fraud in order to obtain benefits. Rather, the statute bars any compensation directly emanating from or connected with the fraudulent misrepresentation. In <u>Farmers Ins. Group of Companies/Truck Ins. Exchange v. Board</u>, 104 Cal.App.4th 684, 128 Cal.Rptr.2d 353 (Cal.App.2d 2002), where the Claimant fraudulently obtained \$84,000.00 by submitting stolen medical footwear purchase slips from a defunct store, he was ordered to pay restitution at the rate of \$100 per month, and all benefits relating to the fraud were terminated.

In Vermont, the Commissioner is granted discretion to require forfeiture of all or a portion of workers' compensation benefits. In <u>Butler v. Huttig Building Products</u>, 830 A.2d 44 (Vt. 2003), the claimant was left paralyzed after a 1000 pound glass door fell on his head at a loading dock. The claimant subsequently committed the fraudulent acts of falsifying two medical notes from one of his doctors, falsifying three receipts for physical therapy, in which he sought reimbursements for overpayments allegedly made, falsifying mileage reimbursement requests on eight separate dates for medical treatment never received and exaggeration of his symptoms to health care providers. The Commissioner terminated all of the claimant's benefits, including his permanent disability benefits. On appeal, this was found disproportionate to the claimant's fraud. "Forfeiture must be no harsher than necessary to deter fraudulent claims and to ensure that the employer does not pay for a benefit to which the injured worker is not entitled

under the Act." Id. at 48. While the court was satisfied the claimant forfeited his right to further medical or temporary disability benefits, denial of his permanent disability went beyond the bounds of discretion. The court did not believe the intent of the statute was to relieve an employer from its obligation under the Act to provide permanent disability benefits to an injured worker where the permanent nature of the worker's injury is undisputed. Nor did the court believe that so denying permanent disability benefits would further the intent of the statute to "cull out" false claims where the claim of permanent disability is not in fact false.

In the present case, the only evidence presented of the occurrence of a work-related injury is the testimony of the Claimant. That testimony has been so tainted by inconsistencies, as set forth above, that it is doubtful whether she even suffered a work injury. Further, the permanent nature of Claimant's alleged disability has been resolved by the Commission. Clearly, Claimant did not establish that she is permanently disabled and the Commission correctly found that she is not permanently disabled. Therefore, even if the Court is inclined to follow the Vermont scheme, the Employer and Carrier submit that the Claimant has forfeited her right to receive any workers' compensation benefits. Whether the Court is inclined to follow the harsher rule of Louisiana or the less stringent rule of California, a stand must be taken on this issue. The Court is urged to send out the message that workers' compensation insurance fraud will not be tolerated. Contrary to the opinion of the Administrative Law Judge and the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, this is the perfect forum in which to formulate the public policy of the State of Mississippi with regard to workers' compensation fraud. Therefore, the Court is urged to find that Claimant has forfeited her right to receive any benefits in relation to this claim.

The Court should also consider those cases in which claims have been denied because the injuries were occasioned by the "indiscretions" of the employees. See, Brooklynn Steam

Laundry v. Watts, 214 Miss. at 635, 59 So.2d 294, 299 (1952) (employee was killed because his assailant believed he was having an affair with his wife); Sanderson Farms, Inc. v Jackson, 911 So.2d 985, 990 (Miss.App. 2005) (employee's injuries were the result of a personal vendetta); Total Transp., Inc. v. Shores, 968 So.2d 456, 463-464 (Miss.App. 2006) (employee's injuries did not arise because of his employment where he went on extended escapade which exposed him to risks not usually associated with his employment). "No public policy would be served by compensating an injury or death originating with the employee's personal indiscretions, whether real or fancied." Big 2 Engine Rebuilders v. Freeman, 379 So.2d 888, 891 (Miss. 1980). As this Court stated in Total Transportation, "To grant compensation in this case would be contrary to public policy and would effectively erase the 'because of his employment' requirement from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act. 968 So.2d at 466, aff'd 968 So.2d 400 (Miss. 2007).

This Court has addressed the public policy of the State of Mississippi on numerous occasions in prior decisions. This case is no different. To allow compensation for a claim after the claimant has been convicted of the crime of insurance fraud is contrary, if not in complete degradation, of the public policy of the State of Mississippi. Therefore, the Court is urged to carve out an exception as set forth herein.

REPLY TO BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

I. THE COMMISSION DID NOT DECIDE ISSUES THAT WERE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE ITS ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOR DECISION.

Procedural Rule 5 of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission provides that, "Before a matter can be set for hearing on the merits, each party must submit a pre-hearing statement ... completed in all respects ... The completed statement shall follow the form prescribed by the Commission and set forth: I. The contested issues; II. Stipulations which will avoid unnecessary proof; ..."

Both the Claimant and the Employer and Carrier submitted Pre-Hearing (Pre-Trial)

Statements as required by the Procedural Rules of the Commission. Both submitted the issue of,

"Existence/extent of permanent disability attributable to the injury," to the Commission for

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